A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The prosecutor argued an improper inference and shifted a
burden of proof to appellant Arthur Cooper in violation of
Cooper' s state and federal due process rights. 

2. The prosecutor committed serious, constitutionally
offensive misconduct in commenting on Cooper' s decision
not to testify, in violation of his Fifth Amendment and
Article 1, § 9, rights. 

3. Cooper did not receive the effective assistance of counsel
guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment and Article 1, § 22. 

4. Cooper was deprived of his state and federal due process
rights to present a defense when the trial court excluded

evidence which was relevant and necessary to his defense. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In arguing that Cooper was guilty of second - degree
possession of stolen property, the prosecutor repeatedly
declared that the jury should find the prosecution had
proven the essential element of knowledge simply based on
the fact that the access card Cooper had was not in
Cooper' s name so it should be presumed that he knew it
was stolen. 

Did the prosecutor commit misconduct and improperly
relieve herself of the full weight of her constitutionally
mandated burden of proof by effectively arguing a
mandatory presumption that anyone in possession of a
single access card not in their own name can be deemed to
know it is stolen unless there is evidence to prove
otherwise? 

2. Was counsel prejudicially ineffective in his handling of the
prosecutor' s improper burden - shifting? 

3. Did the prosecutor commit further misconduct by
commenting on Cooper' s constitutionally protected rights
to be free from testifying when the prosecutor argued to the
jury that there had been " no evidence" presented that
Cooper had a " legitimate reason" to be in the backyard

where the crimes occurred and Cooper was the only person
who could have provided such evidence? 

4. The right to present a defense includes the right to present
evidence which is relevant and material to the defense. 
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Further, the constitutional right trumps evidentiary rules so
that if evidence is highly probative of a defense it is
constitutionally admissible even if it would be excluded by
plain application of rules. Did the trial court err and were
Cooper' s due process rights to present a meaningful

defense violated when the trial court refused to allow
evidence of statements Cooper had made to the alleged
victim even though part of those statements were admitted? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural Facts

Appellant Arthur Cooper was charged by Second Amended

Information with second - degree burglary, second - degree vehicle prowling

and second- degree possession of stolen property. CP 83 -84; RCW

9A.52. 030( 1), RCW 9A.52. 100( 1)( 2), RCW 9A.56. 140( 1), RCW

9A.56. 160( 1). 

After a bail reduction hearing before the Honorable Commissioner

Megan Foley on June 7, 2013, a jury trial was held before the Honorable

Judge Ronald E. Culpepper on July 11, 2013, after which Cooper was

found guilty as charged. CP 51 -53; 2RP 1. 1

At sentencing on August 16, 2013, Judge Culpepper imposed a

standard - range sentence. 4RP 1 - 27; CP 87 -100. Cooper appealed, and

this pleading timely follows. See CP 106 -25. 

2. Testimony at trial

On March 28, 2013, Veronica Dawkins was at the home of her

The verbatim report of proceedings in this case consists of 6 volumes, which will be
referred to as follows: 

July 7, 2013, as " I RP;" 
the chronologically paginated proceedings of July 11, 15, 16 and 17, 2013, as

2RP," 

the opening statements of July 15, 2013, as " 3 RP;" 
the sentencing proceedings of August 16, 2013, as " 4RP." 
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boyfriend, John Gore. 2RP 171 - 72. At about 2 a.m., Dawkins got up. 

2RP 171 -72. She glanced out the window as she was heading down the

stairs to the kitchen and saw Gore' s truck parked in the backyard. 2RP

172. The dome light was on and it looked like someone was inside. 2RP

172. Dawkins thought the person was in the passenger side of the truck, 

rummaging through." 2RP 175. 

Dawkins admitted she could not see who, exactly, was in the truck, 

or what they were actually doing. 2RP 184. She was sure, however, that

the passenger side of the truck was open. 2RP 195. 

John Gore testified that he had parked his truck in the backyard

because there was no parking on the street that night. 2RP 190. The

backyard was fully enclosed by a chain -link fence but had two gates. 2RP

172, 191. Gore " backed" his truck in to park there, coming in off the alley

which ran behind. 2RP 173, 193. 

After Dawkins saw the person in the truck, she went back upstairs

to the bedroom and woke up Gore, telling him what was happening. 2RP

175. Gore got up and looked out of the second floor window. 2RP 194. 

Contrary to Dawkins, Gore thought it was the driver' s side door which was

open on Gore' s truck. 2RP 195, 225. 

From where he stood, Gore said, he could see the person was about

halfway in the truck with one leg out and one in, so the person' s torso was

not visible. 2RP 196. Gore had jumped up quickly and was so " ramped

up" he did not even stop to pull on his pants, instead putting them on as he

was going down the stairs. 2RP 175 -76. Gore looked out the window as

he went and said that the passenger side door was now open. 2RP 197. It
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looked like the person inside the truck was just moving around inside and

Gore speculated that the person might be " moving stuff[.]" 2RP 197. 

Although it was dark out, there were several lights in the alley and

Gore said the interior light was on in the truck. 2RP 198. Gore said the

person in the truck was bent over inside and appeared to be an African - 

American male. 2RP 199. 

Gore grabbed a claw hammer from his " mud room" and ran out the

back door towards his truck. 2RP 176 -78, 199. Dawkins turned on the

lights in the kitchen and saw the person outside in the truck jump out of it

and head towards the back gate. 2RP 179. He ran out of the backyard into

the alley with Gore following behind. 2RP 279 -80. 

Gore claimed that the man he was chasing had " tore down" the

gate and hence in the backyard, busting it and running down the alley with

Gore chasing and hollering, "[ s] top thief!" 2RP 200. Gore said the fence

was broken and no longer stood upright. 2RP 220. Gore' s dog, which

weighed about 40 pounds, was barking and running after the man, too. 

2RP 200••202. 

In. contrast to Gore, Dawkins did not know if the fence was already

damaged before the man ran into the alley. 2RP 179. Dawkins did not

recall any " barriers" or anything which slowed the man down, however, 

such as busting through a fence or gate. 2RP 179. 

Clore and the man were out of sight when Dawkins saw yet another

man in the backyard. 2RP 180. That man came out of the garage, through

a house -style door. 2RP 180 -82. At that point, Dawkins ran to get her cell

phone and call police. 2RP 183. 
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Gore chased the first man down the alley, down a block and into

another alley before the man stumbled and Gore caught up. 2RP 204. At

trial, Gore would identify Arthur Cooper as the man he had encountered, 

although Gore admitted he was not wearing his glasses initially. 2RP 205. 

In the alley, Gore told Cooper not to move, threatening Cooper

with the hammer. 2RP 205. Cooper asked to be let go and Gore refused, 

telling Cooper he was " going to jail tonight." 2RP 205. Gore also said he

tried to keep Cooper from even standing up. 2RP 205. 

Cooper appeared scared and like he wanted to get away. 2RP 228. 

Gore admitted that, when he was confronting and chasing Cooper, Gore

was " agitated, emotional" and yelling. 2RP 228. 

According to Gore, Cooper had a knife with him, in a sheaf. 2RP

206. Cooper immediately threw the knife away when Gore ordered it. 

2RP 206. After a moment, Gore said, Cooper tried to get up and the two

men then " tussled" over Gore' s hammer. 2RP 206. Cooper ran off down

the alley. 2RP 206. 

Gore said that, throughout the incident, he was telling Cooper over

and over that Cooper was going to jail. According to Gore, Cooper was

saying " he was sorry, you know, sorry for breaking into my car, for the

most part." 2RP 206. 

The men ran through several back yards and over fences and Gore

was yelling for someone to call police. 2RP 206. They reached an

intersection where there was a security guard and Gore was hoping it was

a police officer who would help. 2RP 207. The guard, however, did not

really do anything and the men continued to run. 2RP 207. 
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Walter Lawson, the security officer, said he heard someone yelling

for help and to call the police very loudly and then saw two black men run

by, one chasing the other. 2RP 237 -42. The one in the back was the one

yelling, "[ c] all the police," and that same man was wearing only jeans and

was running without shoes. 2RP 242. 

Gore said that the chase eventually ended after Cooper seemed to

be throwing things out of his pockets and then ultimately " kind of gave up

and sat down on the porch of a house." 2RP 207. Cooper was getting

tired during the chase, Gore said, and kept falling when he jumped over

the fences. 2RP 231. After Cooper sat down, Gore again told Cooper he

was going to jail that night and then said, "[ t] hanks for the black on black

crime." 2RP 208. 

Tacoma Police Department patrol officer Jeffrey Maahs was

dispatched to the call and pointed in the direction of the two men by the

security officer. 2RP 248. Maahs then drove to where the two men were

and stopped them by activating his security lights. 2RP 249 -50. Unlike

Gore, the officer thought Cooper sat down when the police car lights came

on. 2RP 250. 

Maahs got out of his patrol car and ordered Cooper to roll onto his

stomach in order to handcuff him. 2RP 251. According to Maahs, Cooper

said, " I was stupid and I made a mistake." 2RP 252. 

Maahs transported Cooper to jail and said that, during the booking

process, a debit card in the name of Amanda J. Dillard was found inside

Cooper' s wallet. 2RP 255. 

No weapons or tools or even a flashlight were found on Cooper. 
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2RP 258. 

TPD patrol officer Brian Hudspeth ultimately went into the home

and looked through the kitchen window, from which the officer said " you

could clearly see" Gore' s truck. 2RP 275. The officer and Gore went to

the pickup., noticing that both doors were slightly ajar and there were

objects in the front seat which Gore said had been in the back seat. 2RP

276. Hudspeth described something he called " staging," where a person

gathers everything they want to take with them " through their burglary or

vehicle prowl," pile it up in one location and then find a way to transport

them. 2RP 278. 

Gore is a photographer and said he had some equipment in the

truck. 2RP 194. He admitted, however, that he usually leaves the truck

unlocked. 2RP 104 -05. When he and the officer went back to look in the

truck, Gore' s tripods and tools related to his cameras were still inside. 

2RP 212. Gore said those things were either on the floor or on his back

seat the previous evening but were now on the front passenger seat. 2RP

216. His dog leash was also moved around and there was a bottle in the

car from a drink called " Oregon Rain," which Gore said was not his. 2RP

219. Gore thought someone had " rifled through" his glove box and said

much of the contents had been taken out. 2RP 227. 

There was no damage to Gore' s truck except for the fingerprint

powder officers later used. 2RP 219. Nothing was taken from the truck at

all. 2RP 219. 

Hudspeth admitted that Dawkins had reported seeing another man

come out of the garage after Gore and Cooper had left the area. 2RP 278. 
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Gore and Hudspeth went into the garage and Gore did not see anything

out of place" or believe anything was missing 2RP 221, 279. There were

no signs of forced entry on the garage or the truck. 2RP 289, 303 -304. A

state witness testified that she tried to collect latent fingerprints from the

truck but was not successful. 2RP 304. 

The officer and Gore walked through the course that Gore had run

in chasing Cooper. 2RP 209. Gore pointed out items he thought had been

in Cooper' s pockets but admitted none of those items belonged to Gore or

were taken from his truck or garage. 2RP 209. 

Jason Dillard testified that, on February 3, his locked truck was

broken into between 1 and 7 in the morning. 2RP 313 -15. Dillard found

out about what had happened when his neighbor came over and knocked

on the door that morning to tell Dillard there was glass on the ground next

to Dillard' s driver' s side window. 2RP 325. Dillard went out to his truck

and saw that a window had been smashed open, the truck gone through

and his wallet, which he had apparently forgotten in the center console, 

was missing. 2RP 315 -16. Inside was his wife' s debit card. 2RP 316. 

Also in the wallet and missing were military identification, a social

security card, $ 600 in rent money and Dillard' s debit card. 2RP 319. 

Amanda Dillard testified that, about 12 hours after the card was

stolen, there were attempted charges on her husband' s card and some on

hers. 2RP 320 -23. The police did not know, however, who had tried to

use the cards. 2RP 323. 
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D. ARGUMENT

1. THE PROSECUTOR COMMITTED FLAGRANT, 
PREJUDICIAL MISCONDUCT AND

CONSTITUTIONALLY OFFENSIVE MISCONDUCT
WHICH COMPELS REVERSAL

As '`quasi - judicial" officers, prosecutors enjoy special status but

also have special duties, including the duty to ensure that the defendant

receives a :Fair trial. Berger v. United States, 295 U. S. 78, 88, 55 S. Ct. 

629, 79 L. Ed. 2d 1314 ( 1935), overruled in part and on other grounds y

Stirone v. United States, 361 U. S. 212, 80 S. Ct. 270, 4 L. Ed. 2d 252

1960); State v. Suarez - Bravo, 72 Wn. App. 359, 367, 864 P. 2d 426

1994). Further, a prosecutor must refrain from engaging in tactics the

purpose of which is to " win" a conviction at all costs. See State v. Rivers, 

96 Wn. App. 672, 675, 981 P. 2d 16 ( 1999). Instead, it is the prosecutor' s

duty to seek justice, which requires seeking convictions based solely on

the evidence, rather than emotion or other improper grounds. See State v. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 677, 257 P. 3d 551 ( 2011). 

In this case, the prosecutor failed in those duties and committed

serious, constitutionally offensive misconduct in urging the jury to find

Cooper guilty of possessing the stolen property by presuming that he knew

the card was stolen because it was not in his name and he had not been

given permission to have it. Further, the prosecutor committed

constitutionally offensive misconduct and relieved herself of the full

weight of her constitutional burden by commenting on Cooper' s

constitutionally protected right to refrain from testifying. 
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a. Relevant facts

In arguing that Cooper was guilty of the PSP charge for possessing

the access card with Mrs. Dillard' s name on it, the prosecutor declared that

there was " no dispute" that Cooper possessed the card for Dillard' s

account or that the card was stolen from her. 2RP 362. The prosecutor

also said t::he card was definitely " being withheld from the true owner," 

Dillard, because Dillard had no idea where it was and had not given

Cooper permission to have it. 2RP 362. 

The prosecutor then told the jury that the only disputed issue

regarding the PSP charge was " whether the defendant knew that the card

was stolen[.]" 2RP 363. She argued that there was evidence showing

such " knowledge," because " the debit card was in the name of Amanda

Dillard" and that " the defendant is not Amanda Dillard." 2RP 363. The

prosecutor said that the jury should assume Cooper " reasonably would

know that the card was stolen because" Cooper was " not entitled to it." 

2RP 363. 

At that point, the prosecutor referred to the " knowledge" 

instruction, describing it as defining knowledge to include when " the

individual knew or reasonably could have knew that the card was stolen." 

2RP 363. The prosecutor also pointed out that, although the incident in

which Dillard' s card was stolen had occurred on a different day, the Gore

house was only about " a block away" from the Dillard home. 2RP 363. 

For his part, in closing argument, counsel noted there was no

evidence whatsoever that Cooper had anything to do with the theft of the

card and also " no evidence that he would have known or did know that it
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had been stolen." 2RP 366. Counsel pointed out that people found things

all the time and hopefully, " they turn them in." 2RP 366. He told the jury

that, even with circumstantial evidence, " you would need to have

something more than just, well, we think he did and we' re going to use our

reasonable thinking he must have known it was stolen." 2RP 367. He

argued that the guilty " intent, guilty knowledge" had to be proven and

w] e don' t simply infer that" it existed "[ a] bsent evidence beyond a

reasonable doubt." 2RP 379. 

In rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor addressed counsel' s

argument that people " find things all the time and they turn them in," 

saying the argument was irrelevant because "[ t] he defendant did not turn

in this debit card." 2RP 386. The prosecutor went on: 

He had it in his wallet. The wallet was in his pocket. He was

withholding it from the true owner. 

There is no way that either [ of] the Dillards would have
known that the defendant had this card, and there is no reason for
him to have kept the card except for the fact that it was stolen. 
There' s no evidence he turned it in. We know he didn' t turn it in. 
H had it in his pocket. And the Dillards did not know him. They
didn' t give him any permission to have it. It is reasonable to
conclude that the defendant knew or should have known that it was
stolen. 

2RP 386. 

Regarding the burglary charge, in his closing argument, counsel

noted that there were legitimate reasons why a person " might be out and

about even in the evening," pointing out that there was testimony of

someone going by on a bicycle around the same time. 2RP 368. Counsel

suggested a scenario he said was " just as reasonable" as the theory of the
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prosecution, telling jurors it was possible that Cooper was just walking

along, saw a situation that seemed out of place because the truck had the

dome light on and went to look into the situation. 2RP 378. 

Counsel agreed there was " no doubt" that Cooper was in the wrong

place at the wrong time. 2RP 378. Counsel cautioned, however, " that to

leap to the conclusion that he' s there with criminal intent, criminal

knowledge, is more than just reasonably inferring that he' s there with the

intent to commit a crime." 2RP 378. 

In rebuttal closing argument, the prosecutor asked what Cooper

was doing in the alley in the first place at that hour. 2RP 383 -84. She

pointed out that Cooper had gone into the truck instead of knocking on the

door to wake people up in the house to tell them something was

happening, and questioned the likelihood that the man in the garage was

not there with Cooper. 2RP 383 -84. The prosecutor then stated, "[ i] s

there any reason for this defendant to have been on Mr. Gore' s property," 

answering her own question, "[ n] o." 2RP 384. The prosecutor then

declared there was " no reason" for Cooper to have " climbed over the

fence" except to go steal from the pickup truck. 2RP 386. She also

reminded the jury that: 

t] here is no testimony that has been presented in this case that
you can conclude that the defendant had any legitimate reason
to be in Mr. Gore' s fully fenced -in back yard in the early
morning hours of March 28th, 2013. 

2RP 386 ( emphasis added). 
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b. The arguments were misconduct which compels
reversal

These arguments of the prosecutor were serious, constitutionally

offensive and prejudicial misconduct for which reversal is required. 

First, while a prosecutor is given " wide latitude" in arguing guilt

from the evidence, she is not given license to free herself from the full

weight of her constitutionally mandated burden by urging the jury to apply

an improper evidentiary presumption in order to convict. Our Supreme

Court has held: 

Presumptions which tell the jury to find the presence of an element
of the crime when the prosecution has proved only circumstantial
evidence violate the due process requirement that the prosecution

must affirmatively prove every element of the crime, as explicated
in In re Winship, 397 U. S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368

1970). 

State v. Shipp, 93 Wn.2d 510, 515, 610 P. 2d 1322 ( 1980). 

Here, the prosecutor urged the jury to apply just such a

presumption in order to find Cooper guilty of the possession of stolen

property charge. After first conceding that the only disputed issue

regarding that count was " whether the defendant knew that the card was

stolen," the prosecutor then told the jury they should find Cooper guilty

simply for possessing the debit card in someone else' s name. 2RP 363. 

The prosecutor declared that " knowledge" was defined in the jury

instruction as including when " the individual knew or reasonably could

have known that the card was stolen." 2RP 363. And the prosecutor said

that the jury should assume Cooper " reasonably would know that the card

was stolen because" Cooper was " not entitled to it." 2RP 363. 

Thus, the prosecutor told the jury that Cooper could be found
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guilty based simply on possessing a card in someone else' s name. It could

be assumed Cooper had the required knowledge, the prosecutor urged, 

simply because Cooper knew the card was not his and that he did not have

permission to have it. 2RP 363. 

But " bare possession of recently stolen property will not support

the assumption that a person knew the property was stolen[.]" State v.

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