NO. 45297-9-II

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

v.

ARTHUR D. COOPER, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Ronald Culpepper

No. 13-1-01292-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST
Prosecuting Attorney

By
KAWYNE A. LUND
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 19614

930 Tacoma Avenue South
Room 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
PH: (253) 798-7400

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

C. ARGUMENT.

1. THE STATE DID NOT IMPROPERLY SHIFT THE BURDEN TO THE DEFENDANT WHEN IT ARGUED PERMISSIBLE INFERENCES FROM THE EVIDENCE.

The defendant argues for the first time on appeal that the State engaged in improper conduct relating to the charge of possession of stolen property. The defendant contends the State "declared" the jury should find the element of knowledge because the access card was not in the defendant's name. *Opening Brf.*, p. 1. The record does not support this assertion, but more importantly, the defendant failed to preserve this issue for appeal.

If a defendant fails to object to alleged improper burden shifting at trial, he fails to preserve the issue unless he establishes that the misconduct was so flagrant and ill-intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). *Emery* also said that the appellate court should focus less on whether the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. *Emery* at 762.

This court should begin with the threshold question of whether the prosecutor made improper remarks. The court should first examine the remarks in "the context of the prosecutor's entire argument, and the jury instructions." *State v. Dhaliwal*, 150 Wn.2d 559, 578, 79 P.3d 432 (2003). The court should look at the entire argument instead of, as defendant suggests, viewing the highlighted snippets of argument out of context. *State v. Carver*, 122 Wn. App. 300, 306, 93 P.3d 947 (2004) citing *Dhaliwal* at 578. Additionally, it is well settled that prosecutors are given wide latitude in closing argument to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence and to express such inferences to the jury. *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). In support of his argument, defendant selects several words and sentences from 3 RP 363¹. Defendant's characterization is concerning in what defendant does not include. 3RP 363 reads, in its entirety, as stated below. The highlighted portions are the words cited by defendant.

person, so there's no way that if the Dillard's had walked by him on the street that they would have known he had it. He was definitely withholding it from the Dillard's.

And the incident occurred in the state of Washington, specifically, again, in the City of Tacoma.

So the only issue in this particular charge is whether the defendant knew that the card was stolen.

¹ Defendant mistakenly cites to "2 RP 363," when the testimony is in the third volume, or 3 RP 363. That is true for most of the briefing. The State adopted the designation of the court reporter.

Again, we're now looking at circumstantial evidence. We're looking at the fact that **the debit card was in the name of Amanda Dillard**, which was clearly on the card, and you will see that when you take it back into the jury room, that **the defendant is not Amanda Dillard**, that the defendant is not known by either of the Dillards. One could conclude that he doesn't know them.

And when you look at the "knowledge" instruction, which is Instruction No. 18, it basically says that the individual knew or reasonably could have known that the card was stolen. And you **reasonably would know that the card was stolen because you're not entitled to it**. And keep in mind that the Dillards live basically about a block away from where Mr. Gore lives. They live, as I recall, at 4317 Fawcett Avenue, which is about a block away from where Mr. Gore lives. Yes, we're

First, in looking at the entirety of the State's argument and context, the court should note that the State began its opening remarks by directing the jury to Instruction No. 2, "direct and circumstantial evidence." 3RP 349. The State argued that:

[C]ircumstantial evidence which, based on your common sense and experience, can allow you to reasonably infer or conclude that something that is at issue in the case had occurred or did not occur. 3 RP 349.

At 3 RP 352 the State again referenced circumstantial evidence.

Instruction No. 2 advised you, they are both equally important. You don't ignore one because somebody has said it's circumstantial evidence. It is as important as direct evidence. Let's look at what the evidence shows.

The State next discussed testimony that were examples of circumstantial evidence that supported the charge of vehicle prowling and burglary. The State asked,

"Why did he run off?" "[W]hen he came to the fence, ...he knocked [the fence] over, and took off running. "What right would the defendant have...to wander into this backyard?... "It is completely enclosed by a fence...." "[He] had to climb the fence." 3RP 353.

In support of the charge of unlawful possession of stolen property, the State argued:

It was undisputed the defendant possessed the stolen debit card belonging to Amanda Dillard, and that it is an "access device." 3 RP 362. The card was found inside the defendant's wallet. Neither Mr. nor Mrs. Dillard knew the defendant, nor did they know he had the card. There was no testimony that anyone attempted to return the card to the Dillards. 3 RP 362.

This brings us to the page relied upon by defendant. 3RP 363. The State's remarks are clearly examples of circumstantial evidence that support the stolen property charge. More importantly, at this point the State directs the jury to the instruction defining 'knowledge,' No. 18. 3 RP 363.

Contrary to defendant's reliance on *State v. Ford*, 33 Wn. App. 788, 658 P.2d 36 (1983), the State in the present case is not relying on mere possession as they did in *Ford*. *Ford* held:

Although bare possession of recently stolen property will not support the assumption that a person knew the property was stolen, **that fact plus slight corroborative evidence**

of other inculpatory circumstances tending to show guilt will support a conviction. *State v. Couet*, 71 Wn.2d 773, 775-76, 430 P.2d 974 (1967). Knowledge may not be presumed because a reasonable person would have knowledge under similar circumstances, but such knowledge *may be inferred*. *State v. Shipp*, 93 Wn.2d 510, 516, 610 P.2d 1322 (1980).

[Emphasis added. Highlighted portion is omitted from defendant's brief.]

As already recited, the State presented sufficient evidence from which the jury could properly infer defendant's guilt and exceeds what *Ford* called "slight corroborative evidence."

Defendant further argues the State's comment in rebuttal amounts to impermissible burden shifting as it relates to the stolen property charge. *Opening Brief*, p. 11. The State's comments are not improper. The State points out factors that would lead a reasonable person in the same situation to believe the card was stolen. The State reiterated that the defendant and the Dillard's did not know each other. The defendant could not have mistaken it as his given the card clearly bares Mrs. Dillard's name. There is no evidence he was holding it in anticipation of returning it. It was not found in a common area shared with others. Logic dictates the defendant is the person that placed the card in *his* wallet in *his* pant's pocket. They testified they did not give him permission to have the card. The defendant cannot reasonably have believed he had the permission of strangers to have their access card. The evidence supports one conclusion: the card

was stolen. The defendant had actual possession of it, he knew it wasn't his, and he knew the card was stolen. At no time did the State tell the jury to "presume" knowledge. The record does not support defendant's assertion. *Opening Brief*, p. 14.

Both the State's initial argument and its rebuttal argument are well within the boundaries of proper argument. The State's remarks were based on evidence admitted at trial in conjunction with the court's instructions.

Because defendant failed to object to the alleged misconduct at trial, he did not preserve the issue for appeal. Unless he can establish the alleged misconduct was so flagrant and ill intentioned that an instruction would not have cured the prejudice, his claim fails. *Emery*, 174 Wn.2d at 760–61, 278 P.3d 653. He cannot. Because the State accurately argued the reasonable inferences of the evidence and fairly responded to defense counsel's arguments, the State's remarks do not amount to misconduct. Therefore the defendant cannot show how this conduct was improper, unfairly prejudicial, or incurable by an instruction. Even had he preserved this issue, he has not shown error.

2. THE STATE PROPERLY ARGUED THE REASONABLE INFERENCES THAT COULD BE MADE BY THE EVIDENCE OR LACK OF EVIDENCE AND DID NOT IMPERMISSBLY COMMENT ON DEFENDANT'S RIGHT NOT TO TESTIFY.

The defendant also failed to preserve this issue for appeal by not raising any objection to the State's closing remarks. As with the earlier issue, to be successful on appeal the defendant must demonstrate the prosecutor's misconduct was flagrant and ill intentioned, but even more so on whether there was any prejudice and if so, could it have been cured by the trial court. *State v. Emery*, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 1112 (2012).

The defendant bases his argument on one sentence in the State's rebuttal argument. *Opening Brief*, p. 18. The statement is an accurate statement of the evidence and is responsive to defendant's closing. In his closing, defendant argued:

[T]here was not [sic] criminal intent or criminal knowledge on the part of [the defendant.] 3 RP 365.

Regarding the knowledge element for the stolen property charge, defendant argued,

Where is the evidence of that? I submit there is not evidence that he could have known that....There is no evidence that he did know that....We have no evidence of

[defendant] intentionally withholding [the card] from the true owner.... We have no evidence of that either. 3 RP 367.

Counsel argued the defendant's act of running when spotted by the homeowner was, "under the circumstances not an unreasonable thing for [defendant] to be doing."² 3RP 370. Counsel then told the jury a list of items that someone who intended to steal would have had that night if they were intending to steal. He argued out the defendant had no such items. Counsel then argued this was evidence of lack of criminal intent. He also argued it was a "very incomplete investigation." 3RP 372-377.

The State properly responded to defendant's arguments. The high lighted portion is the sentence upon which defendant relies followed by what the State said immediately after.

There is no testimony that has been presented in this case that you can conclude that the defendant had any legitimate reason to be in Mr. Gore's fully fenced-in back yard in the early morning hours of March 28th, 2013.

What we have is more than sufficient evidence to show that the reason the defendant was there was for an intent to commit a crime, and that crime was theft.

We know the property had been moved from the back to the front seat. We know the defendant was found rummaging in that pickup truck. There was no reason for him to have done any of those if he was there for some legitimate reason, but the State contends that, based upon

² Mr. Gore armed himself with a hammer when he ran out of his house to confront the defendant in his truck. 2 RP 199.

all the evidence in this case, he wasn't there for any legitimate reason. 3 RP 386-87.

When read in context, in the entirety of both the State's closing arguments and the defendant's, the statement is not an improper comment on the defendant's election not to testify.

The mere mention that defendant evidence is lacking does not constitute prosecutorial misconduct or shift the burden of proof to the defense. *State v. Jackson*, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553, review denied, 167 Wn.2d 1007, 200 P.3d 210 (2009). In fact, a prosecutor is entitled to point out a lack of evidentiary support for the defendant's theory of the case. *State v. Killingsworth*, 166 Wn. App. 283, 291-92, 269 P.3d 1064, review denied, 174 Wn.2d 1007, 278 P.3d 1112 (2012).

In the present case defendant invited the State to respond to defendant's theory that there was no evidence of guilty intent or guilty knowledge. The State properly responded by pointing out the defendant's questionable behavior that would tend to support guilty intent. One example included the lack of explanation for the conduct the State asserts supports his criminal intent. Defendant offered explanations for defendant's behavior, e.g the running, the lack of tools. The State responded.

The State's comment was a proper response to defendant's closing, was a reasonable use of the facts presented in the case, and was not improper. The defendant cannot meet his burden that the sentence was either flagrant or ill-intentioned, nor can he demonstrate that he suffered prejudice as a result.

3. DEFENDANT RECEIVED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL.

To demonstrate ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must make two showings: (1) defense counsel's representation was deficient, i.e., it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness based on consideration of all the circumstances; and (2) defense counsel's deficient representation prejudiced the defendant, i.e., there is a reasonable probability that, except for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987) (applying the 2-prong test in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)). Competency of counsel is determined based upon the entire record below. *State v. White*, 81 Wn.2d 223, 225, 500 P.2d 1242 (1972) (citing *State v. Gilmore*, 76 Wn.2d 293, 456 P.2d 344 (1969)).

Defendant argues that trial counsel should have objected to the statement he argues amounted to burden shifting. For the reasons already stated in the State's brief, the State's comment was not improper. Therefore, any objection from defendant would have been baseless and not sustained.

In a claim of ineffective assistance based on a failure to challenge the admission of evidence, a defendant must show (1) an absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct, (2) that an objection to the evidence would likely have been sustained, and (3) that the result of the trial would have been different had the evidence not been admitted. *State v. Sexsmith*, 138 Wn. App. 497, 509, 157 P.3d 901 (2007), *review denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1014 (2008); *State v. Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. 575, 958 P.2d 364 (1998).

The failure to object constitutes counsel incompetence justifying reversal only in egregious circumstances on testimony central to the State's case. *State v. Johnston*, 143 Wn. App. 1, 19, 177 P.3d 1127 (2007). Even if the defendant shows deficient performance, he then must establish prejudice by showing that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have differed. *State v. Grier*, 171 Wn.2d 17, 34, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011). Defendant cannot demonstrate that the State's comment in closing

amounts to an "egregious circumstance." Defendant also cannot demonstrate any prejudice as a result.

Defendant also asserts he did not receive effective counsel because trial counsel failed to pursue the hearsay exception ER 803(a)(3) to gain admission of defendant's statements at the time of arrest.

The two statements defendant argues should have been admitted are as follows:

"I didn't take anything." 2 RP 225, and

"The doors were [already] open." 2 RP 225.

Trial counsel attempted to admit these statements through victim Gore, but the State properly objected citing hearsay. 2 RP 225. The exception regarding admission of a party-opponent is not available to defendants. The trial court sustained the objection. This court would need to find the trial court abused its discretion in sustaining the objection. The trial court's decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion, which exists only when no reasonable person would have taken the position adopted by the trial court. *State v. Rehak*, 67 Wn. App. 157, 162, 834 P.2d 651, *review denied*, 120 Wn.2d 1022 (1992).

The trial court properly applied ER 801(d)(2), which does not allow out of court statements of a party opponent to be admitted through another person. The trial court clearly did not abuse its discretion in

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